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[0:00:00]

Betty Tilly:
This is Betty Tilly with Bena Cates interviewing John Ford Canale on the Evergreen mid-town neighborhood history.  It’s June 21, 1979.  Let’s start out with your earliest memories of the neighborhood and when your family moved there.

John Ford Canale:
Well, of course my earliest memory of this particular neighborhood where I presently reside at 1766 Forest Avenue goes back longer than I wanna talk about.  So I guess I was about 14 years old, 13 or 14 years old, and I had friends that lived in the neighborhood at that time in the same block in which I live.

[00:01:05]
Betty Tilly:
Who were some of those?

John Ford Canale:
Well, Mr. L.A. Montedonico’s family, who was president of H.L. Guinan Company at that time, I went to school with his youngest son, Jim Montedonico.  They lived I think it was the second house east of Evergreen on the north side of Forest.  Then I used to go around in the same ground with the girls and boys – you know how a bunch of boys would go up to the girl’s house.  And Lydia Love, she was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. W.K. Love; Mr. Love was vice president of McKesson Drug Company – McKesson I guess van bleat.  And of course I knew all her family; her two brothers, her sister, and Lydia was born our same age group.  
[00:01:59]

Then next door to her, where I presently live – she lived at 1756 Forest – and next door to her where I presently live, the Scott family lived there.  That was old Scott Kelly Furniture Company, and it was George Scott, the youngest of that family, was a very close friend of mine.  His older brother too, John Scott, who’s still living, I know very well.  That was my first – those were my first recollections of the neighborhood, and I guess that was back in the early 1930s.
Betty Tilly:
Now 1776 Forest was – 

John Ford Canale:
1766 is my address.

Betty Tilly:
Okay.  But where you lived before was just down the street?

John Ford Canale:
No.  No, I’ve never lived – my family home was at the southeast corner of Belvedere and Harbert, over in the Central Garden area.  I moved on Forest in 1954, in February of ’54.  It’s been, what, 25 years ago.

[00:03:01]

And my wife and of course we had then since that time the neighborhood has changed, but it’s – oh, prior to that, I attended Southwestern, and while I was there, Dr. Shumaker, he taught me out there, and his family still lives just two doors from me, his two daughters.  And his wife lived there for years until she died just a few years ago.  Gwen Orson and her family – rather Wells Orson, Gwen’s husband, his family lived down on the corner, and he was at Southwestern when I was there.

Betty Tilly:
Now do the Ensmingers live in that family – in the Orson family home?

John Ford Canale:
I don’t know – I don’t know who that is that lives there now.  They lived at the corner of Hawthorne and Forest.  And since that time – well, since we’ve moved there ourselves and bought the home where the old Scott home –

[00:04:01]

we did not buy it from them.  We bought it from some gentleman – I forget his name now.  I could get it for you.  But he was vice president and sort of the chief operator also – I think it was the Dobbs house.  It was one of those fast food chains.  He and his wife lived there for several years after the Scotts left there, and then we bought it from them in ’54.  And since that time of course the Thoda family lives on that block in the Greajn, and they were two sisters.  There was Dorothy Thoda and Shirley Greajn, and their maiden name was Stotts, and they were there years, years – even when I was – you know they were from childhood, and they’re older than I am.
Betty Tilly:
Are they still there?

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, they’re still there.

Bena Cates:
G-R-E-A-J-N?

John Ford Canale:
Yes, but their family name, their father who sold it was the name Stotts.  But the two sisters married; one married Lawrence Greajn and one married William Thoda, T-H-O-D-A. 

[00:05:01]

And of course they’re both dead, but the two daughters still live there, the wives.  And that’s the old family home – Shirley Greajn and Dorothy Thoda.  And then Jamison Jones, who just went to Southwestern with me and was then subsequently became dean of the school, he now lives right across the street.  Well, not directly across – off to the right.  There are a number of Southwestern professors – because he’s professor in the Art Academy now, Dr. Jones is.  It’s peculiar in the neighborhood, we –
Begin Segment 2: 00:05:32:22
Bena Cates:
We haven’t talked to him yet, but we’re supposed to.

John Ford Canale:
You ought to talk to him.  He hasn’t been there I don’t think as long as I have, but he will know generally the neighborhood very well.  You know he comes down the street every day, and I see him, and I always called him Hickey in school.  Of course, the neighborhood, they always look to you with the ass – the young distinguished Dr. Jones.  But that’s all the same fraternity and everything.
Betty Tilly:
I’ve heard Hall T. Jones, his sister-in-law, call him that.

[00:06:00]

Bena Cates:
That’s terrrible when you don’t outlive your nicknames, isn’t it?

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, well, we always called him – I went to a party at – [phone ringing] excuse me.  Others in the neighborhood that’ve lived there a long time is there’s a family by the name of Inibitsen lives down on one corner.  And recently this Dr. Chuck Orvin, Charles Orvin – you may have seen where he’s in charge of the Economic Department at Southwestern – he lives at the corner of Hawthorne and Forest also, one of the corners.  O-R-V-I-N.  He’s just been appointed something by the President, study the economy of the country – he’s going to Washington to take a leave.  Then there’s another professor lives across the street from us that’s at Southwestern.
[00:07:01]

I’ll think of his name.

Betty Tilly:
Conrad.

John Ford Canale:
Conrad, right.

Betty Tilly:
Jack Conrad.

John Ford Canale:
Then there’s next door to us now where the Loves lived – I don’t remember who the first people that moved in, but I think it was Jarret Blanchard and his wife – he’s an attorney here and used to be on the city council.  And of course his children and mine grew up together then, and he moved away.  Now we have neighbors there and I think they’re gonna move – they’ve been there five, six years.  Dr. Thaddeus Farrell, he’s a plastic surgeon.  And next to him is the Shumakers, and next to them is another doctor and his wife – they’re both doctors.  They’re gynecologists; they’re both in the neighborhood.  Then on just to the east of us is an old family that’s been there for years; Shows, S-H-O-W-S.  Now he has died.  He was in the grocery business back with Clarence Saunders.  And then he went in business for himself years later.
[00:08:02]

And he died about five or six – his wife still lives there, though.

Betty Tilly:
And they would be older.

John Ford Canale:
Yes.  Now there’s also a Miss Richmond.

Betty Tilly:
Eleanor.

John Ford Canale:
Eleanor.  She lives over in the apartment building they used to own.  I think she still lives there, at the Belvedere Apartment Building on Union.

Betty Tilly:
She’s at the Parkview.

John Ford Canale:
Well, she’s gone and moved there since.

Betty Tilly:
Did you know the Bruces –

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, Arthur Bruce –

Betty Tilly:
That lived in the Conrad house.

John Ford Canale:
They’re the ones that built that home.

Betty Tilly:
Now they go way back.

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, they were there for years.  See, he ran for governor at one time; he was a Republican nominee for governor at one time.

Betty Tilly:
Now they lived in the Jack Conrad house.

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.  It was Arthur Bruce.

Bena Cates:
They aren’t here.  I don’t know if they moved back north, or.

Betty Tilly:
Do you know if they still live in the city?
John Ford Canale:
No, he’s dead.  He’s dead, and she moved out with a son or daughter; my wife could tell you that.

Betty Tilly:
She’s still here somewhere.

John Ford Canale:
No.  She’s out in either the state of Washington or Oregon – somewhere in the northwest.  Now my wife would know.

[00:09:02]

And I’m sure that the Youngs – Charles Young lives right across the street.  He’s retired.  They used to own the Demuth Furniture Company here, and he would be very helpful to you, because they are before my time.

Betty Tilly:
They’ve been in the neighborhood a long time, the Charles Youngs?

John Ford Canale:
Oh, a long time, yes.  And they were right next door to where the Conrads live and where Arthur Bruce used to live.

Betty Tilly:
Do you know any contact with any of the black families that lived – before you moved into the neighborhood, but you probably remember this.  We’ve heard so much about – 

John Ford Canale:
Lived in the servants’ quarters?

Betty Tilly:
So many of these houses had black servants that lived for years in the servants’ quarters.

John Ford Canale:
Well, we had one, but I’m getting ready to tear it down because it’s a big two-storey garage, and we never use the garage.  It’s just junky; just all the junks piled back there.  And it was built right in the middle of the back yard.

[00:10:01]

It really detracts.  You know if you kept it up it’d be all right, but it takes up so much of the back yard.  My wife could probably – she knew some of those people’s names.  I didn’t know them, but I know there was a couple lived right behind us.

Betty Tilly:
But she would probably know better.

John Ford Canale:
She would probably remember some of them’s names that lived back there.

Betty Tilly:
Jeff Mormon was telling us about a real character who lived in the neighborhood – this would probably be too early for you to know about – named Will.  You know Will?

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, I’ve heard of Will.

Begin Segment 3: 00:10:33:29
Betty Tilly:
You know where we lived in the country; we came to town to the baby doctor.
John Ford Canale:
Yeah, but she’s dead – Louise Mercer’s dead.  And then that Miss Summerfield lived there too, didn’t she?  Yeah.  You know anybody else down – because I can remember way back when Dr. and Mrs. W.D. Stinson lived there on Forest there.  I even remember the house.

Betty Tilly:
Are they still living there?

John Ford Canale:
Miss Perkins – is she still living?

Betty Tilly:
Yeah, she’s still living there; we talked to her.

John Ford Canale:
Jessie Perkins

Betty Tilly:
Right.

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, that’s where Jim Montedonico and his father used to live, yeah.  She doesn’t remember any black people except their first names.  She remembers a Dan, and he used to work for different ones around the neighborhood.  And then there was Robert, and what was her name?  Alberta.

Betty Tilly:
Worked for the Mormons?

John Ford Canale:
Now Robert and Alberta, they worked for the Mormons.  They worked for Miss Simms, she said.  But they lived there for years.  Now you don’t remember Will – I remember that name of somebody talking about him.  I bet you the Thodas would remember that, because they’ve been there as long as anybody.

[00:12:06]

And Miss Bruce, where’s Miss Bruce now?  Did she die?  She died in California – uh-huh.  But you don’t know who her son and daughter are, do you, out there?  Well, okay then.  Now she has – Dr. Carey Bringle’s wife, his widow, was E.L. Bruce’s daughter, and he was Bruce Lumber Company.  That was Arthur Bruce’s brother.
Betty Tilly:
Did he live in the neighborhood, E.L. Bruce?

John Ford Canale:
No, but she might be able to tell you some of the history of that, or maybe some of those people – something about the family that maybe the people in the neighborhood wouldn’t know about where they moved and everything.

Bena Cates:
We wanna look at so many important people that lived there that – 

John Ford Canale:
And then of course the attorney state – Will Gerber, who was district attorney general for Shelby County lived down in that next block between – 

[00:13:04]

I don’t know how – it was a duplex, I think.  And then Albert Mowry and his wife lived there for a while, the same place.

Betty Tilly:
Now the Gerbers, does he still live there?

John Ford Canale:
No, he’s dead.  His son’s a practicing attorney, Hal Gerber.

Betty Tilly:
Would he have grown up there, Hal Gerber?

John Ford Canale:
I don’t know how long Hal was there, how long they lived there.  They lived there a pretty good while, though.

Bena Cates:
We had one of the Gerbers marrying some other family that lived there, and I can’t recall who it was.

John Ford Canale:
Now Hal – there was two boys, Marshall and Hal.  Hal married a girl I think originally came from St. Louis, but I’m not sure about that.  But they’re in the law practice in the 100 North Main building; Marshall Gerber and Hal Gerber.  And I don’t you about Dr. Croswell, and Dr. W.B. Stimson.  But see, his son’s a judge now, general session judge, David Stinson, but I don’t know whether he would remember that or not, he would’ve been so young.  

[00:13:58]

Because I know I’m a good bit older than he is, and I was just a young man at that time when they moved away from there.
Betty Tilly:
Did you know Marshall Lewis?

John Ford Canale:
Oh, yeah; sure.

Betty Tilly:
He grew up in that neighborhood, didn’t he?

John Ford Canale:
I don’t know.  See, I didn’t grow up there, because I used to go over there a lot.  Of course I knew the Loves.

Betty Tilly:
You were on Belvedere growing up.

John Ford Canale:
I was on the corner of Belvedere, uh-huh.

Bena Cates:
Which isn’t all that far away really, is it?

John Ford Canale:
No, it’s certainly not.  I still go to church over at Immaculate Conception there a corner from where we used to live, a block.

Bena Cates:
Well, the one lady we interviewed, Ms. Rosenstein, whose sister – anyway, the maid that she has working for her has worked for her is 50 years.  

Begin Segment 4: 00:14:50:26
John Ford Canale:
I don’t know.  It seems to me that one time – you know where the Methodist church is there?  

[00:15:01]

Do you know where their building – the classroom, whatever it is – I guess educational building?  I think that was the home at one time, if I’m not mistaken, of Dr. Pistole.  Have you checked on that?

Betty Tilly:
We don’t have him there, no.

John Ford Canale:
Check on that, because I think that home, his home there.  He was a renowned surgeon here, and it seems to me that he and his wife or somebody connected with him lived in a home that’s on that area there.

Betty Tilly:
How do you spell his name?

John Ford Canale:
P-I-S-T-O-L-E, I think it was.

Betty Tilly:
What were his initials?

John Ford Canale:
I think it was Walter H. – I’m not certain, but I know the first name was Walter.

Betty Tilly:
Isn’t it the Crislers and the Carruthers that we associate with that house?

Bena Cates:
Well, that was way back, though; that’s in the ‘20s.

John Ford Canale:
Well, it may have been the Crislers or something – it was some doctor, but I know Dr. Pistole moved over on the Parkway there, 


right around the corner from Evergreen.  

[00:16:03]

About in this area where that Woodmont apartment building is; one of those big homes that sat way back from the street.  Others – you know the neighborhood substantially has not changed.  I mean it has not deteriorated any like most I mean you think of older neighborhoods.  It’s been very stable because I guess a lot of older people are still there.  But each one that moves in have been people that have been comparable in position in the community to the ones that moved out.  Now the Carruthers, Mrs. Love was a Carruthers.

Bena Cates:
Right – she was a daughter.

John Ford Canale:
Uh-huh.

Betty Tilly:
Was she Louie Carruthers’ sister?

John Ford Canale:
Sister – that’s right, yes.

Betty Tilly:
Mrs. Johnson – do you know them?  They told us that they lived right across from Galloway – I mean the church.  Right across from the Trinity Education Building.

[00:17:00]
John Ford Canale:
The name’s – I don’t know – 

Bena Cates:

It’s two old sisters.

John Ford Canale:
I may have known who they were.  Then there were some others – you know down when you get to McClain went over to Autumn with Dr. Francis Murphy – he was one of the Simms Murphy Clinic.  Now he’s moved to Florida; he sold that home, but his family, he and his wife and children lived there for years.  Right on Autumn just east of McClain.
Betty Tilly:
What about Judge Kelly – was she there?  Do you remember her?

John Ford Canale:
I knew Judge Kelly, but I don’t remember her being there.  That’s a possibility.  Ms. Richmond, of course if you can get to her I think she would know a lot of them.  The Thodas would know a lot of those people who were there early.  There were different ones on the Parkway.  I know Ira Pyron that lives at Parkway and Hawthorne; he’s been there quite a number of years.  Then I went to school with a fellow by the name of John Dodge – D-O-D-G-E – that lived on one of the corners.
[00:18:00]

They had a swimming pool in their basement.  You know the house I’m talking about that burned and everything?  I went to Pentecost-Garrison with him when we were in grade school over on Idlewild, and he lived there at that time.

Betty Tilly:
He lived in the house with the swimming pool?

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.

Betty Tilly:
Because we had a hard time – couldn’t locate the house.  Where is that house?

John Ford Canale:
It’s on the southeast corner of Parkway and Hawthorne.

Betty Tilly:
Southeast corner of Parkway and Hawthorne.

John Ford Canale:
They had a fire in it several years ago.  I don’t know what happened or whether the swimming pool is still in there, but it was in – 

Bena Cates:
We heard the pool had been covered over.

John Ford Canale:
It may have.

Bena Cates:
Somebody drowned in it, or there’s supposed to be some sort of ghostly association with it.

Betty Tilly:
Well, Jeff said that house was supposed to be haunted.
John Ford Canale:
Yeah, well, it was – I’ve heard that.  You know I don’t pay any attention to that; let it go on.

Betty Tilly:
But that is the same house.

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, the Dodges lived in there for years.  John Dodge.  Now whatever happened to him –

Bena Cates:
You don’t know whether he’s still –

John Ford Canale:
I don’t know, and I wouldn’t even know who to tell you to go see unless it was some of us –

[00:19:03]

That went to Pentecost at that time.

Betty Tilly:
Well, I wonder if the people who own it bought it from the Dodges?

John Ford Canale:
But I imagine you could check the titles on it and maybe find out where he lives.

Betty Tilly:
Well, did you go to Snowden?

John Ford Canale:
No.  I went from Pentecost to Christian Brothers.

Betty Tilly:
I know it, but I thought you could go to Snowden even if you lived over on Belvedere.

John Ford Canale:
Well, you could’ve, but I went to private school, and then I went from there straight to Christian Brothers High who used to be down on Adams Street.

Bena Cates:
Who was the guy before that – Ira?
John Ford Canale:
Pyron.
Bena Cates:
Pyron, okay.  Didn’t ever get that down; forgot it.

John Ford Canale:
Now, he’s been there a long time.

Betty Tilly:
About how old are those homes on your street?  I know that it varies section to section.

John Ford Canale:
You’d have to check this out, but somebody told me years ago when I bought that home –

[00:20:00]

and if you go in it and you watch it, it’s so different from the rest of the homes on the street, because we get doing a lot of things to it.  Repaint it and redecorating inside and out, and we’re going to modernize the kitchen and close in the back yard, tear down the garage.  But that home was supposedly built by an architect, and somebody told me – that it was the people that we bought it from – I never checked it out – that Louise Bennett Clark – you remember?  Used to be head of the Brooks Memorial Gallery?  That her husband was an architect.  His name was Clark.  Now I remember his two sons, and I think one of them still lives here.  I forget his first name; I knew them as young boys, and he did architect work or owned that home originally or something.  But if you’ll go in the basement you’ve got these big piles –
[00:21:01]

you know, the drive – the house sets on – you just don’t see them in homes like that.  I know when I bought it – this has been 25 years ago – I had an architect look it over.  And he said, “If you can move this house to anyplace you want it, or if you try to reproduce it, it’ll cost you about four times what you’re gonna pay for it to build it.”  Because he did beautiful work; I mean on the inside and out.  It’s a very compact house.  It looks big, but there’s no wasted space in the house at all.

Betty Tilly:
What’s it built of on the outside?

John Ford Canale:
Stucco.

Betty Tilly:
With a tile roof?

John Ford Canale:
No, it’s not a tile roof.  They had the tile roof, but they took it off years ago because they had trouble with it.  And we’re getting ready to reroof it too, because we made the mistake of putting a light roof on it.  We should’ve put a black roof.

Begin Segment 5: 00:21:47:08
Bena Cates:
It turns, doesn’t it?  So it would’ve been back in the ‘20s, you think?

Betty Tilly:
That he designed and built it?

John Ford Canale:
Well, 1927 – ’31, let’s say – 

[00:22:00]

well, that had to be built in the ‘20s, because I can remember the house being there as early as ’30 or ’31, or maybe before that even.
Betty Tilly:
And you understand that this Clark built it and lived in it?

John Ford Canale:
That was my understanding, but you check that, and don’t quote me on that because I’m not positive about it.  That was hearsay.

Bena Cates:
She was the curator of Brooks, wasn’t she?

John Ford Canale:
And you know this person could’ve had her mixed up with someone else, because I knew Ms. Clark and my family knew her.  And I knew her two sons after their father died.

Betty Tilly:
Did you know – I read her name in the park commission minutes.  Did you know old Colonel Galloway?

John Ford Canale:
Well, no, I didn’t know him.

Bena Cates:
He died in 1918, honey!

John Ford Canale:
Well, we’d have to see about that.  I can tell you the Galloway home because Ms. Galloway, Colonel Galloway, she died in that home.

[00:23:02]

Ms. Galloway did, and Robert Galloway – because he’s dead now, but one of his daughters is married to Al Aydelott; you know the architect that used to be here?  But they live out west somewhere now.  And the other one is married to Russell Duncan; that was Hope Galloway’s married to Aydelott, and Mimi Galloway is married to Russell Duncan, and they live both in New York and in Palm Beach.  She’s a real good friend of my sister’s.  I can get you her address.  Plus every time she comes to Memphis she’s always at my sister’s home.

Betty Tilly:
Well, there’s a son too.

John Ford Canale:
And my wife knew her real well too – she used to – you see, I’m talking about the grandchildren.  Mrs. Bide Snowden was a daughter.  And Bobby Snowden – you know Wilkinson and Snowden?  That was his mother.  They own the big place on the big circle over there, where Tom Todd and his wife live now.
Bena Cates:
Aniston.

[00:23:59]
John Ford Canale:
That’s right – right across from the University Club, on Lamar.  That’s Mrs. Snowden’s daughter lives in there, Ms. Todd.  She might be able to tell you; Ms. Galloway was her grandmother.  Colonel Galloway was her grandfather.   And then Hope and Mimi Galloway were Bob Galloway’s children; they both live away from here.  
Bena Cates:
Yeah, that’s the Robert G. Snowden, because it’s Robert Galloway.

John Ford Canale:
Robert Galloway Snowden, that’s right.

Bena Cates:
Because we talked to him about – we did Robert and Estella.  We talked to him about the family.
John Ford Canale:
Whether he’d know much about that home, I don’t know, but I can remember her funeral came out of that home.  Mrs. Galloway’s funeral was held there.  That was right before World War II, around ’40, ’41, maybe ’42.  I guess it was ’42 – maybe the summer of ’42.

[00:25:00]

Or summer of ’41 – it was one of those.  I can remember that distinctly.  Of course, at that time I was really actively operating the funeral home, after my uncle died.  Next door here – of course it was Spencer Sterling in those days.  And then when my sons became old enough I went back to the practice of law.  I took over and ran it for several years, and I can remember handling, directing the funeral out of that home for Ms. Galloway.  
Betty Tilly:
So she lived there?

John Ford Canale:
Yes, she lived there till she died.  Matter of fact, she died in that home.

Bena Cates:
And he did too.

Betty Tilly:
Did the children, did the family then sell it?  Is that when it left the family?

John Ford Canale:
No.  I think – if I remember correctly, they gave it to Southwestern or Southwestern bought it or something.

[00:26:01]
Betty Tilly:
Oh, at that point – it was a music school.

John Ford Canale:
And then it stayed vacant for years and years – nothing was in it.  I remember Dr. Tuthill, you know, was head of the music department out there.  They had that apartment over there.  Then it stayed vacant for years, and recently this doctor bought it – I don’t know him.  But see they had a lot of old families that lived on those streets like Autumn and Galloway – what’s more in there?  Carruthers and Oak and Park.  Herbert Jerden lived – Gus Morgan lives in there in that big house, you know, corner of Park and McClain.  It’s got all the ivy on it; sits way up on the hill.  That was old Jerden Lumber Company people; they lived there.  
Begin Segment 6: 00:26:56:06

[00:27:00]

And the Pidgins lived down on Overton Park almost past Buena Vista, almost to Overton Park.  Yeah, well, as they built a smaller house next to it.  Used to be the last house; it was a two-storey red brick.  That was the Coca Cola Pidgins.  That was Mr. Jim Pidgin.

Betty Tilly:
And the Sessels lived down the street.  Talked to Sam – he grew up there.

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.  But see it’s none of those left that would remember that home, because Everett’s dead and Phil’s dead.  Now Everett’s wife is still living – she may have remembered something about it.
Bena Cates:
Well, you moved there in the ‘50s.

John Ford Canale:
I think it was ’54, because it’s been 25 years.

Bena Cates:
And the corridor has been cleared since you lived there.  Was that in the ‘60s?

John Ford Canale:
The what?

Bena Cates:
The corridor for the expressway.
John Ford Canale:
Oh, yeah, that was clear.

[00:28:00]

Oh, I’ve been there a long time before that was done.

Bena Cates:
So you can remember when that was done.

John Ford Canale:
Oh, yes.

Betty Tilly:
Did you know it was coming before the other?

John Ford Canale:
Well, see, when Dave Harsh was made chairman of the Shelby County Commission after Mr. Hale retired – E.W. Hale – this may have been before y’all’s time.

Bena Cates:
No, I know that name.

John Ford Canale:
He was sort of the counterpart of Mr. Crump in the county.  And when Dave took over that, he called me one day and he asked me if I would come down there on some kind of part-time basis as his executive assistant.  He wanted to centralize personnel and right away in the county attorney’s office and I did.  I went there to stay about a year and stayed three and a half years with him, and of course I set up the first trip to call on the mayors of Dallas, Houston, New Orleans, and Atlanta.  And we went on a trip to look at the expressways in all those cities.  There were about eight or ten of us.
[00:29:00]

And Harsh Wooten, who then owned WREC-TV sent his camera crew in a station wagon and they must have in their library down there – because I talked to Charlie Brakefield about it not long ago, who’s Harsh’s son-in-law and runs the place now.  Called it “The Tale of Four Cities” and it showed all the expressways and the different phases of our trip.  And that’s how we really – you know there was a lot of opposition to even expressways at all here at that time.  That was about 1956 or 7, somewhere along in there.  But that’s where I first knew we were gonna get expressways, or we were hopeful we were gonna get them.  But the plan originally was not for there; they were thinking about Southern Railroad, that area they were thinking about originally.  The L&N Railroad used to come down by Sears, and Sears objected

[00:30:00]

so vehemently.  And then they later came with the park route.
Betty Tilly:
But we heard that was he used this “Tale of Four Cities” footage for.

John Ford Canale:
To show the people what the expressways had meant to the comparable cities, like Dallas, Houston, Atlanta, and New Orleans.

Betty Tilly:
So it would’ve been shown here on television?

John Ford Canale:
Oh, it was shown here on television, yes, on channel three.

Betty Tilly:
To prepare the people.

John Ford Canale:
Prepare, that’s right.  It was a promotional – to accept it.  An educational promotion, yes.

Bena Cates:
Well, we heard from those Miss Johnson sisters that – and there are even theses written about that blasted thing that I’ve looked at, and I’ve even taken notes, because that’s a subject in itself.

John Ford Canale:
About what?

Bena Cates:
About the expressway – although I’ve read through them, I haven’t really – 

John Ford Canale:
Now Mr. Fowler was city engineer at that time, Will Fowler.  Of course, he’s dead now.  But there is a man who was his assistant, and I can’t think of his name.  I know him as well as I know my own.

[00:31:00]


And he’s still living, I believe.  He might be some – 

Bena Cates:
It was Mr. Ragsdale who had some –

John Ford Canale:
Well, of course Mr. Ragsdale’s dead.  He was on the Transit Authority at that time.

Bena Cates:
And who was Mr. – what was he?

John Ford Canale:
He succeeded Fowler as city engineer, whoever this man was.  I know him.  He’s still here, and you need to talk to him, because he could probably tell you where to get all the information about the expressway and the timing of it.  But the route had not been determined at that time to come through the park.

Betty Tilly:
Well, who decided – 

Begin Segment 7: 00:31:38:18
John Ford Canale:
Because that main one was the Southern Railroad was talked about.  One was old L&N rail line, which would’ve gone right by Sears or maybe even touch their building, one part of that.  And then it was determined to come through the park.
[00:32:00]

Now you’ve got three or four governmental agencies involved.  First of all, you’ve got the Bureau of Roads, which is your federal agency, and they pay 90 percent of the construction and acquisition cost of the expressways.  Then you had your state paying 10 percent.  Now when I went to Shelby County with Commissioner Harsh as his executive assistant back in those – that’s when we first started acquiring property for the expressway system in Shelby 
County.  And I set up that office, that right-of-way office.

Betty Tilly:
Was this all under the Interstate Bill?

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.

Betty Tilly:
And that was the Bureau of Roads?

John Ford Canale:
But see, each state did their own acquisition, but in this case the state of Tennessee authorized or named Shelby County as its agent to set up its own right-of-way office

[00:33:00]

and they acquired the right-of-ways within Shelby County.

Betty Tilly:
But buying for the state.

John Ford Canale:
But buying for the state, because the state was paying 10 percent, the federal government 90 percent.

Betty Tilly:
And Shelby County was paying – 

John Ford Canale:
Yes, and I know I employed Hugh McGabny Jr. – he’s dead now; he died when he was about 80.  But Hugh was the first person that came into that office for Shelby County, and with the help of others he acquired a great part of that expressway.  And then of course Commissioner Harsh’s policy was that there were certain real estate appraisers and real estate brokers who were qualified that would go out and appraise this property.  And no one person got it all, in other words – he spread it around to anybody that was interested in doing that work.  And then Hanover – now that’s somebody could give you a lot of information on this.  Allan Hanover and William Walsh –
[00:34:02]

that's Hanover & Walsh, the attorneys – Commissioner Harsh named them as special counsel to handle the legal matters in dealing with the acquisition of right-of-ways for the expressway.  And they handled most all of those lawsuits and juries of review and those kind of appearances.

Betty Tilly:
When you talk about right-of-way for the expressway, what general geographical area are you talking?  Everything that would fall in Shelby County that would be the interstate?

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.  That’s correct.

Betty Tilly:
Well then, going back, this would have to predate what you’re talking about, too, and maybe there’s no way of putting it together.

John Ford Canale:
See, most of this was acquired for the circumferential part of the expressway; that part that goes around the city.  And then it was up to the city to make the acquisition

[00:35:00]

who Mr. Fowler, through his office – City Engineer’s office I think handled most of that for the expressways within the city.  And we may have done some of it; I don’t remember.  I know I set the office up and hired the personnel for it and everything, at Commissioner Harsh’s direction, because I set up the first central personnel office the county ever had, and the first right-of-way office; first central purchasing.  And all of these things were being done, they were all fragmented.  Every department was doing their own in those days.
Betty Tilly:
Well, would you guess, from what you’ve said, that the route through that neighborhood  -
John Ford Canale:
I think it was determined by several things.  By probably the Bureau of Roads, by the State Department of Highways, by the City Engineering Department.

Betty Tilly:
And the fact that these alternates that had been considered, there was strong opposition from –

John Ford Canale:
Well, I recall the opposition to the Sears thing.

[00:36:00]

I just now recall it, not from actual experience but from reading about it, because that was in the city.  I don’t know what –

Betty Tilly:
And the railroad probably objected.

John Ford Canale:
Well, there may have been, and I don’t know what – I would imagine that was the same objection, if there was one, to using the Southern lines.

Bena Cates:
Well, do you remember, Mr. Canale, if originally there was just to be the Beltway, and then everybody says downtown hoped this would slow down the suburban spread?

John Ford Canale:
Well, not really, because see, that’s the folly of this whole thing, and you all may be environmentalists – maybe I’m talking to the wrong people.  Well, I am not really opposed to it.  I’m for it, because that interstate runs from the east coast to the west coast, and it stops in Memphis Tennessee.  And I think it shows a very backward attitude that we have, and a lack of progressiveness.
Bena Cates:
But don’t you think that one through the middle is for us, not for the out-of-state folks?

John Ford Canale:
Oh, no, that’s your Highway 40 that runs from New York to California.

Bena Cates:
But hadn’t you rather take a loop around than go through?

[00:37:01]
John Ford Canale:
Not really.
Bena Cates:
Oh, I hate to go to Atlanta and go through that mess.

John Ford Canale:
Well, you know you ought to go to Houston if you dislike Atlanta.

Bena Cates:
Oh, I like it – I just don’t like the roads.

John Ford Canale:
It’s a massive expressway, one on top of the other.  But I think we were very fortunate.  I think we have poorly designed expressways here, on and off ramps.  I think we tried to avoid too many of the cloverleafs for economic reasons, but I don’t think that’s always the best way to do that, because these other on and offs – you know, the slide – they back up so badly.  And I don’t really object to the park, because I think it’s being unrealistic.  Here was have big trucks and all this traffic down North Parkway – if that’s gonna hurt the animals, if going through the middle’s gonna hurt them, that’s gonna hurt them.  And I think this could’ve been raised.  I never was for the depressed idea because I think you’ve got a terrible maintenance and an initial cost on the depressed or the covered.  I think that was ridiculous.

[00:38:01]

I don’t think you could ever justify spending the tax dollars for something like that.  But I think they could’ve gotten up over it.  I mean I think they could’ve come off of Broad and gone up and been at treetop level.  And then come down gradually after you pass McClain – you know, start going down about McClain.

Betty Tilly:
Why was that not acceptable?  Or was it never suggested?

John Ford Canale:
I don’t know whether anybody – I’ve suggested it but I don’t know if I was ever heard about that, but that was one of the things that I thought was the best thing to do.  But if it had come to just going on ground level, I’d still be for it because I think it has choked off your downtown area.  I think it hurt the downtown area materially by not getting traffic down there.  But that in itself did not do it all; your parking in your downtown area was your big crisis, in my opinion, because when you got them down there, you had to give them a place to park.  And I think that’s one of the things we failed in, and I don’t think people are gonna shop on Main Street wanted to park way down on the riverfront.
[00:39:03]

I think if there’d been some thought given to some high-rise garages or underground garages or something downtown where people – you can’t stack them up because you lose as much time as if you’re taking public transportation down if you’re gonna do that.  But I think it was a mistake, and I think it should be completed.  I don’t think in my lifetime we’re ever gonna see it completed, but I think it should be completed.  I think it’s a real bad situation for the city, frankly.

Betty Tilly:
Well, you say you don’t think we’ll see it completed.  What do you think’s gonna happen to that corridor?

John Ford Canale:
I don’t know; I really don’t.  And it disturbs me because one thing 
– can I turn this off for a minute? 
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 That some bad things could come about –

Betty Tilly:
If it’s up for grabs.

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, if it’s just up for grabs and it continues to just lie there and deteriorate.

Bena Cates:
Because it’s for sure they’re not gonna let them build any more park right there, which would be the other logical option.

John Ford Canale:
No; that’s right.

[00:40:00]
Bena Cates:
And I doubt there’d be any justification for a park.

Betty Tilly:
Well, do you think this is realistic – somebody was telling us – Kay Forton said there were several families who had owned the lots that were just waiting for a chance to –

John Ford Canale:
Buy them back.

Betty Tilly:
To sue for them because it was condemned for only one purpose, and that they would wait as long as possible – I mean they would wait forever.  And then sue for the land to come back to them.

Bena Cates:
Well, they’ll have to wait till the state says they aren’t gonna use it.
John Ford Canale:
Well, see, they was supposed to be complete what, in 1971 or 2?  I think that was the completion date.  I think it was 14 years or something from ’57.  I think it was ’71.  But that time has been extended, and how long it’s been extended I don’t know.  I haven’t kept up with it.

Betty Tilly:
The Interstate Bill runs out I think in ’81 or 2.

John Ford Canale:
Well, it was originally supposed to run out in ’71, see, and then they extended it.

[00:41:00]

That may be ’81 is right.

Bena Cates:
The state keeps saying “we intend to build” and they couldn’t really say they weren’t planning to use it, could they?  I don’t think.

Betty Tilly:
That’s right – unless the state –

John Ford Canale:
Well, you can’t keep anything like that in perpetuity, you know, from now on.  I mean some court’s gonna turn them over on them down the way; either say “you build it within a certain length of time, or this reverts back, and you have to sell this property for what you paid for it.”

Betty Tilly:
So you think sometime a judge will say this?

John Ford Canale:
Well, let me say this: I’m not predicting it, but it wouldn’t shock me if that happened.

Bena Cates:
Let me ask you about the downtown.  We’ve been doing these things, these neighborhood histories, and so often our older neighborhoods have declined when the new suburbs spring up, and the shopping centers.  Do you feel that there was some conflict or competition

[00:42:00]

in the way the roads were built in helping the suburbs as opposed to not helping the downtown?

John Ford Canale:
Well, I think you’ve got a peculiar situation, and it’s not only Memphis.  You know of other cities – Chicago’s another one, although it’s a much bigger city – where your downtown was at one end of your city, and that’s an unusual thing.  Usually your downtown’s in the middle of the city, or near the middle of the city, and you can’t go anywhere west, because you’re in the river.  That’s as far west as you could go.  Now I think that you had ample roads – I’m talking about your main thoroughfares, main roads, main arteries; not talking about expressways now – that were running east and west.  You did not have as many, and you still don’t have as many, going north and south – particularly when you get out beyond a certain – well, let’s say when you get out
[00:43:00]

really beyond what, Cleveland.  You got Cooper that runs all the way into South Parkway and goes on and on, but it stops at the park going north.  You’ve got Parkway now that runs into Airways and goes all the way to the Mississippi line – I’m talking about East Parkway, along there.  Goes into Treazvant, stops where, at Jackson, one of those streets over there – Chelsea, one of them.  And you don’t have a lot of – and Cleveland, of course, stops at Lamar but goes north all the way out and ties into the highway.  So you didn’t have near as many north and south arteries as you had east and west.  The move, the natural move residentially was to the east.  Now you just couldn’t keep moving out there and not supply those people and make necessities accessible to them, such as grocery stores.

[00:44:01]

So I think the concept of the shopping centers came about.  I don’t think it was done with any design; I think it was just a natural phenomenon that was gonna take place in a certain length of time.  I think that’s proven southeast, northeast, due east – it’s north and south.  It hasn’t been just confined to your more expensive or affluent neighborhoods – look at Whitehaven.  I don’t know if y’all have been out southeast.  The building out there is tremendous, and a lot of shopping centers – big ones.  I had not seen one of these Safeway stores here in Memphis.  I had seen them out of Memphis.  So my wife and I drove out about two weeks ago to see this new one out to southeast Memphis off of Winchester.  Huge thing – it’s a big development.  All that area.
Bena Cates:
I go home, and it used to be the country – yeah.

John Ford Canale:
So all of that’s developed to such an extent I think that – I’m not one of these people that really believe that

[00:45:01]

all the things and all the problems that we – I think all the money is spending is gonna really return downtown to what we once knew it as.  I don’t think it will ever be your major retail center again.  I think it’ll be – I think time alone is gonna bring downtown Memphis back, and you’ve got to bring people back down there.

Betty Tilly:
As what?  What do you think it will come back – 

John Ford Canale:
I think eventually you’ll see a lot of those old areas – I can take you and ride you around you know where the old railroad station used to be and back near the Rivermont and those areas – just dozens of old warehouse buildings that are not in use at all.  Dilapidated, look terrible.  I think that the railroad ought to be gotten out of there – that main line of the Illinois Central – so that that could develop.  Give it an opportunity to develop residentially someday.  But I think it’s gonna take time.

[00:46:01]

I visualize downtown as an entertainment area.  It’ll remain your governmental, probably and your financial.  You’ll have places like Goldsmith and Lowenstein, but I expect you’ll see a lot more small shops.

Betty Tilly:
And residential where these old warehouses are.

John Ford Canale:
Residential, that’s right; and some of those old buildings downtown.  I mean look at Michigan Boulevard – nothing is more built up commercially than that in Chicago.  But then you go a little bit north of the river, it still stays commercial, but a couple of blocks from it you’ve got a lot of these beautiful high-rises and condominiums and things – and have been there for years.
Betty Tilly:
Are you talking about actually taking the tracks out –

John Ford Canale:
Yeah.

Betty Tilly:
That are all on the waterfront?

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.

Bena Cates:
The lease expires, right, or the lease comes up again – in this century, anyway.

John Ford Canale:
They ought to go.  See, they have a track they can come around there through Scott Avenue, under the Poplar viaduct; they have one there.  And the station’s gone down there anyway – that ought to be done away with.

[00:47:02]

I think they’d probably be glad to get rid of that.  I hate to see the railroads go as far as their passenger service, because I think they have a place in the overall transportation, and I think it’s unfortunate.  And maybe they’ll come up with something that’ll stimulate them again, but it’s got to be good service and good accommodations or people aren’t gonna use them.

Betty Tilly:
And the placement wouldn’t be relevant at all to any kind of rapid transit in the city, would it?

John Ford Canale:
No.

Betty Tilly:
I mean it just goes parallel to the river.  There are no –

John Ford Canale:
It wouldn’t be helpful.  Your Southern tracks would do more for that than anything.  And maybe NC and Illinois Central.
Betty Tilly:
That’s all Illinois Central on the river?

John Ford Canale:
Um-hm.

Betty Tilly:
I didn’t know that.
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Bena Cates:
Well, now, when you moved into the area we were already pretty much in the automobile age, weren’t we?

John Ford Canale:
Oh, yes.  Yeah.

Bena Cates:
But the streetcar line still ran down Overton when you moved there?  That puts it back shortly after the war, doesn’t it?

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, I think they were taken up before we moved over there.  I’m not certain, but I –

[00:48:01]

now that ran through Galloway – ran through.  I think the buses were there then.  Now they may have had those electric buses at that time, when we first moved there.  But they had rubber tires and weren’t any tracks as I recall.  I remember the tracks on Galloway, but no, I think the buses had come in then – all bus by the time we moved over there.

Bena Cates:
Which seems to have been sort of the beginning of the end, doesn’t it?  

John Ford Canale:
It really does.

Betty Tilly:
When you said how the neighborhood has maintained its character to a remarkable degree all these years, Charles Drake something I wonder if you noticed – Drakes Cleaners, you know – that would it have been about ten years ago he said there was a tremendous influx of what was then called hippies.  Now it may be 15 years ago.

[00:49:01]

That there was an awful lot of transient young people beginning to sort of gradually come into the neighborhood, and that it was a very crucial time, he felt, for the neighborhood because the neighbors stood firm.  And it was just kind of a quiet confrontation over a long period of time.  And all of a sudden, he said, “We noticed they were gone.”  And it could’ve gone the other way.  were you aware of this?

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.  Yeah, I think we were aware of it.  I don’t think we were frightened by it or anything; we thought it was probably due to the school being close by, and some of those commercial developments – you know, down on McClain north of the Parkway there.  And maybe some coming over form – well, I’ll tell you where some of that existed and came from, from around Poplar and Evergreen, like Beard and some of those streets that went down.  And those were older and less desirable homes.

[00:50:01]

And they did, and some of them came and bought those – that’s right, those dead end places, and you had some of that.  But eventually it went away.  Just as I saw a great influx of black people into Overton Park.  Just tremendous – they were all over the neighborhood on Sundays.

Betty Tilly:
At this same time period?

John Ford Canale:
Yes.  And then – well, maybe even after that.  But I’ve noticed in the last year or so that while they still use the park, it seems to be a much more stable group.  You’ll see a family group for a picnic or something, but you didn’t see just the boys with no shirts on.

Bena Cates:
They go to Audubon now.

John Ford Canale:
I guess so.

Betty Tilly:
But not after this weekend.

Bena Cates:
That’s probably it; they probably moved on over.  That’s just about it.

Betty Tilly:
Well, I guess there was a basic solidarity.

John Ford Canale:
Well, there was nothing really wrong with that.  It was you know a park, but I’m used – see, they seem to be people that are thoroughly enjoying the park and taking more pride in it.  More of a family.  You don’t see that hippie type thing,
[00:51:03]

the gang type movement or something.  We never really saw much of it on our street, but in the general area you had the feeling that you didn’t have to drive but a few blocks to see it.

Bena Cates:
I’m sure that makes a big difference, even so, like the breaks being a little bit closer.

John Ford Canale:
But those neighbors did stand pretty firm on that, and I think that to some extent not because this area is perhaps not quite as large, but I think that same thing happened in Central Gardens one time –maybe about the same time.  Those people stood firm too, and they maintained their neighborhood.

Bena Cates:
Mr. Drake said the police were very cooperative, that it was just – 

John Ford Canale:
Well, see, he was right in the middle of it.  He was right where he was right there by it.

Bena Cates:
They live right there close to that cleaners, too.

John Ford Canale:
Yeah, I know they do.

Bena Cates:
So they really were constantly there.

John Ford Canale:
I know what – my son and a friend of his bought one or two of those houses on Beard.

[00:52:01]

And they fixed it up, made it into one or two or three – I think one of them is three apartments, one two – maybe they’ve sold that one.  But they’ve done real well with it, and they have really – the caliber of people they have are people who just wanna be there.  The young couples, maybe two young girls that are working.  They just wanna be in that area because they work in the hospital center or somewhere like that and they don’t wanna be too far away.  And it’s a different type.  As I said, you don’t go down and see all these people hanging around.  You’d normally see them around where the theater was there.  You don’t see them around the old Dobbs house right there on the corner – well, next to Mr. Gray’s place.  Now you see they’ve done away with a couple of the beer joints that they had where that interior decorator is on the corner of Evergreen and Poplar.  And then a lot of it came also up from
[00:53:00]

Belvedere there, between Poplar and all those apartments, you know, those quick-built apartment places there from Madison to Poplar.  A lot of young people lived in that area, and they had to go somewhere, I guess, so they just kind of spread out over the neighborhood.  I guess where the people in our section saw them was they were going to and from the park, maybe over to Southwestern, things like that.

Begin Segment 10 : 00:53:27:04
Betty Tilly:
But for whatever reasons, it didn’t alter the character of the neighborhood permanently.  

John Ford Canale:
We need to turn this off just a minute again.

[Break in Audio]

John Ford Canale:
You know, and then let him move from there.  
Bena Cates:
Um-hm, that would be good.

John Ford Canale:
But I don’t see any evidence other than that’s the only thing that I’ve heard that’s undesirable in the neighborhood at all in the last few years.

Bena Cates:
And that’s probably a very temporary thing at that.  They’ll probably go somewhere else.

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.  And I’m sure at some point Southwestern’s had that, being open.

[00:54:03]
Betty Tilly:
Yeah, and Evergreen Church, too.
John Ford Canale:
Now, Evergreen has had more of a supervised program though, see.

Bena Cates:
They have a supervised program there.

John Ford Canale:
My little boy – my youngest boy, he’s not little any more, he’s grown.  He used to play baseball when he was just a little fellow down there on Evergreen Church team, and he used to play on the basketball team, and he went down and participated in a lot of things.  And I thought it was really good because they really well supervised them.

Betty Tilly:
Yeah, they’re in these Park Commission leagues.

John Ford Canale:
That’s right.

Betty Tilly:
Our boys have played over there too, and it’s well organized.  That’s the best way to do it, I’m sure, because otherwise.

John Ford Canale:
This is gonna be interesting; I wanna read this.

Bena Cates:
I hope so.

John Ford Canale:
There’s so many people who could – you know if I could sit down and think

[00:55:00]

about it, any little details or human interest stories I might think about I’ll call you.

Bena Cates:
Oh, yeah, please call us, because it’ll be six months before we get this.  Betty’s like writing her PhD all over again – it’ll take a while.  And Pat is doing the same sort of thing I am; we’re both helping.
Betty Tilly:
But my office, they have a secretary, and they’re the easiest to leave a number and we can call you back.

John Ford Canale:
All right, fine.

Betty Tilly:
And ask your wife too, because she has a different perspective, I’m sure.

John Ford Canale:
But see, we had five boys and a girl, and they all grew up in that.  I guess just one of them was Sterling.  The youngest was a little girl – she was about two months old when we moved there.  And Sterling, the youngest, he’s a senior in Memphis State.  He’s 21 now.  He was born while we were in that home.  My oldest son, he grew there.  
[00:56:00]

Let’s see, he was only – when we moved there – that’s been 25 years ago, he’s 35, be 36, so he was what, 10 years old, I guess.  And he grew up there.  He’s in charge of the FBI office in Fort Wayne, Indiana now, and the second oldest, he’s 33, he’s president of the company.  He’s just like the president of the company.  Stays in Lubbock, Texas.  He’s in business for himself; has done real well.  And the third one, he grew there.  He’s 32 or 31 – 31 – he’s with the Department of Revenue.  The fourth one, he runs the – he and Swift Treadwell, they’re in business together and they run the funeral home.
Bena Cates:
How did you let two of those get away from Memphis?  The flew the coop!  We need them.

John Ford Canale:
The oldest one, when he was a little fellow I was a special agent with counter-intelligence during World War II, and I think he listened to so much of that stuff.  

[00:57:01]

And from then on, he wanted to be an FBI agent.  And as soon as he got through school and everything, he went.

Bena Cates:
Well, did they go to Snowden?

John Ford Canale:
No.  They went to the Little Flower.  They all went to the Little Flower except the youngest boy.  He went there for the first two or three years and then we moved him over to Immaculate Conception, because Lynn, my daughter, was in high school over there.  So when he was in about the 4th grade we moved him over to the parochial grade school so we wouldn’t have to be going in two directions.  
Bena Cates:
Well, I wonder – you’re not a good one to ask – 

John Ford Canale:
She married and she teaches the 1st grade over at Little Flower.

Betty Tilly:
Oh, really?  We haven’t talked to anybody at Little Flower; we’re gonna have to.

John Ford Canale:
Now I can tell you the whole history of that because the cousin to my mother, Monsignor Whitfield was the one who built that whole parish plant over there.  He was the first pastor.  

[00:58:00]

They’ve only had three pastors up till now.

Bena Cates:
In about at least 30-something years, huh?

John Ford Canale:
Oh, yes.

Betty Tilly:
Your mother’s cousin built Little Flower?

John Ford Canale:
Um-hm, he was the priest in charge of it.  

[Break in Audio]

John Ford Canale:
Monsignor Whitfield was the first pastor.  He came from an old parish downtown near St. Joseph’s Hospital known as St. Bridget’s, and he lived at 1900, I believe, Jackson.  They hadn’t even had a rectory there then.  He built what is now the school, and the church was up on the second floor.  And then the next thing he built was the priest house there at the corner of Dickinson and Jackson, and then he built the main church and turned the whole school building into the school then.  And then he built the house for the nuns who taught there at that time right behind.  So before he died, that whole plant was complete.
[00:59:01]

And I don’t know what – he was there from the time it started until he died in ’53.  And then Father Leppert was there, and then the last one was this Father Scolon.  Those are the only three have ever been at that church.

Betty Tilly:
When did he start?

John Ford Canale:
I’m trying to think.  It was about sometime around 1930, the early part of the ‘30s.  No, it wasn’t ’30.  I’d say around ’35 – somewhere between say ’34, ’35 is about the time it started.

Betty Tilly:
Boy, he did a lot of building.

John Ford Canale:
Sure did.

Betty Tilly:
In that era, to get money for that, it’s not a small thing.
John Ford Canale:
Yeah, it really was.

Bena Cates:
Well now, did St. Bridget’s close when he moved out?

[01:00:02]
John Ford Canale:
Not right away, but eventually it did, and then they tore the whole church, the whole priest house, the school down there.  If you went out – you know where St. Joseph Hospital – actually faces 2nd Street – but Overton runs right into the front door, and that’s where St. Bridget’s church was.  Right across 3rd Street at Overton.  But he was –

[Abrupt End of Audio]
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